Capital Accumulation, Innovation and Economic Growth: A Cross-Country Analysis



Submitted By

Hafiz Hussam Sohail 84-SE/MS-EF/F12

Supervisor

Dr. Arshad Ali Bhattı Assistant Professor, IIIE IIUI, Pakistan

Spring 2016

School of Economic

International Institute of Islamic Economics (IIIE)
International Islamic University Islamabad (IIUI)

Pakistan



Accession No TH-16673



MS 330 HUC

2 Homan coup. Ford. Medicin

DEDICATON

Dedicated to Allah the most merciful and my parents, my grandparents, specially my Father Sohail Akbar, my beloved mother Afshan Sharif, my Ant Shehla Sharif and my uncle Rauf ur Rehman and of course my all family, friends and teachers.

DECLARATION

I hereby declare that this thesis, neither as a whole nor as a part thereof, has been copied out from any source. It is further declare that I have carried out this research by myself and have completed this thesis on the basis of my personal efforts under the guidance and help of my Supervisor. If any part of this thesis is proven to be copied out or earlier submitted, I shall stand by the consequence. No option of work presented in this thesis has been submitted in support of any application for any other degree or qualification in International Islamic University or any other University or Institute of learning.

Hafiz Hussam Sohail

APPROVAL SHEET

Capital Accumulation, Innovation and Economic Growth: A Cross-Country Analysis

by

Hafiz Hussam Sohail Reg No 84-SE MS I F F12

Accepted by the International Institute of Islamic Economics International Islamic University, Islamabad, as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for the award of degree of MS in Economics and Finance

Supervisor:

(Dr. Arshad Ali Bhatti)

Assistant Professor IIIE

International Islamic University Islamabad

Internal Examiner:

(Dr Miraj-ul-Haq)

Assistant Professor, IIIE,

International Islamic University, Islamabad

External Examiner.

(Dr. Muhammad Ayub Siddiqui)

Professor, FMS

Fast University Islamabad

Head

International Institute of Islamic Economics International Islamic University Islamabad Director General

International Institute of Islamic Feonomics International Islamic University Islamabad

Date of Viva 15 January 2016

Acknowledgement

All Praises to Allah (SAW), who created man out of dust, made him His vicegerent on earth and made the angels prostate before him to make him realize the importance and centrality of human race in the Divine scheme of Universe. After Almighty Allah, may the greatest blessings of Allah (SAW) be upon His Prophet Muhammad (SAW), the most perfect and exalted, a source of guidance for humanity forever

My heartiest gratitude to my respectable supervisor Dr. Arshad Ali Bhatti for his extended guidance and support, all the way long. Especially his friendly behavior make it easy for me to work on this research. I acknowledge with thanks the contributions of all the honorable teacher's whom I happened to learn throughout my academic career.

I would like to thank teachers, friends for the contributions they made intentionally or unintentionally are recognized, acknowledged and appreciated Especially Zaka ur Rehman, Anwar Mughees Alam, who really help me to complete my thesis. One of my special friend in Islamabad Zia ur Rehman who take a lot of care, honest friend and we spend a very good time. Also, I would like to thank my friends. Waqas Saleem, Bilal Khan, Muhammad Bilal Akram, Faisal Mustiaq, Haider Irfan, Usman Sahi, Talha Uzair, Ashar Rashid, Rana Sulman, Shahryar, Zeshan, Salman Baig, Shahid Mehmood, and more specific to my Sargodha university group and some lovely friend, who really help, support and encourage me to achieve my journey

I might not have been able to complete the long arduous journey without the help of my family, especially my father SOHAIL AKBAR for his guidance and bundle of love, my beloved mother AFSHAN SHARIF for her kindness, dedication and sincerity of her, my ant SHEHLA SHARIF, my uncle RAUF UR REHMAN, these all people do the noble sacrifices they made for my education and training and always stand with me and support me when I need My brothers SARIM AMAN, BASSAM SOHAIL, SHAHZAIM AMAN, ZARRAR BIN SOHAIL, AAMISH AMAN and ABDULLAH BIN SOHAIL, my lovely sisters SOHAID SOHAIL and SOHA SOHAIL with their help and support this thesis would not have been possible without them Their silent prayers for me and their encouragement at every step have no doubt been invaluable assets of my life. My whole family, especially to Dubai family and of course LUMIA KHAN and SHAMMA NANO, thank you for your guidance, concern and support. At the end again I warmly appreciate the generosity and understanding of my whole family for their unflagging love and unconditional support throughout my life. You made me live the most unique, magic and carefree childhood that has made me who I am now. Love you all

I am also gratified to the staff of School of Economics especially Syed Niaz Ali Shah, Mr Muhammad Zarif Satti, Mr Tauqir Ahmed, Hafiz Abdur Rehman, and Mr M Iqbal My special thanks to friends, back home and those whom I could not mention in this short space May Allah reward them all

Abstract

The main purpose of this study is to test the Howitt and Aghion (1998) theoretical model of innovation and capital accumulation using the 3 years averages of 76 developed and developing countries covering the time period 1997-2013. This study used an interaction model as used by Brambor et al. (2006) and Bhatti et al. (2013) for attainment of our results. We estimate three models by using two proxies of innovation in each model. The first model is the combination of 76 developed and developing countries. The results show that innovation and capital accumulation are substitute to each other. Furthermore, the results demonstrate that innovation has progressive and significant impact on economic growth. On the other hand capital has progressive but insignificant impact on economic growth. In second model (57 developed countries) the results are similar to our first model. Lastly in our third model (19 developing countries), we found that there is a lot of variation in these results.

Table of Contents

Chapter I	:
Introduction	:
1.1 Objective of the study	į
I 2 Hypotheses	
1.3 Scheme of Study	9
Chapter 2	6
Literature Review	6
2.1. Growth Literature Related to Innovation	e
2.2. Literature on Capital Accumulation	13
2.3 Literature on Innovation and Capital Accumulation	15
Chapter 3	17
Theoretical Framework	17
Chapter 4	20
Data and Empirical Methodology	20
4.1 Data	20
4.1 2. Independent Variables	21
4.1.3. Control Variables	22
4.2. Summary Statistics	24
4.3 Estimation Methodology	27
4.4.1. Fixed Effect Estimation	28
4.4.2 Random Effect Estimation	29
4.4.3. Hausman Test	30
Chapter 5	31
Estimation and Results	. 31
Summary	47
Chapter 6	48
Conclusion and Results	48
References:	50
Appendix [*]	57
Table A1: Variable Definitions	57
Table A2: Correlation Matrix of 76 Countries (Developed and Developing)	59
Table A3: Correlation Matrix of 57 Developed Countries	60

Table A4. Correlation Matrix of 19 Developing Countries	61
List of Tables and Figures	
Table 4 1: Summary of Data for 76 Countries (Developed and Developing)	24
Table 4.2: Summary of Data for 57 Developed Countries	25
Table 4.3: Summary of Data for 19 Developing Countries	26

Chapter 1

Introduction

The investigation of the major sources of economic growth can be conducted in a number of ways and at different levels. As discussed in Scott (1993), the early growth models focused on the effects of the basic inputs labor, capital and subsequently the impact of technology. Then, the growth of inputs itself was examined. Many studies propose different sources of economic growth including human capital, investment and technological innovation (Barro, 1991, Solow, 1956) If we talk about innovation, it is define as, any idea or introduction of any new component by an individual or firm in order to survive in market against their rivals is innovation Lechnological innovation is a process in which we invent new products/technologies on the basis of previous knowledge and experiments. Likewise, according to a significant view, the key source to determine economic growth is innovation (Howitt and Aghion 1992, and Grossman and Helpman 1991) Similarly, when we talk about business R&D, firms do R&D by the view of monopoly rents which comes when there is a fruitful innovation. In recent years, most of the social science publications are concentrating on innovation, so publication of innovation has increased much quicker than the whole number of such publication. As an effect our understanding around innovation procedures, their social factors and economic influence is significantly improved. Since innovation has affected almost all aspect of human life, it is concluded that innovation enhances economic growth (Romer 1990, Grossman and Helpman 1991) Giving credit to globalization and technological knowledge, an

economy is forced to accelerate its rhythm of innovation to expand its technological capabilities to foster competitiveness, productivity and most importantly to capture most of the global market share. Romer (1986) has rightly marked Technological Development as one of the essential force for fueling economic growth. However, economic growth is directly affected by the amount of innovation which is carried out domestically, how well the economy exploits external technological advancements by way of diffusion and finally how effectively an economy adopts such technological development (Martin and Ottaviano, 2001, Grossman and Helpman, 1994)

In 1970s, innovation had no such importance as it deserved and literature mostly focus on short run because of oil shocks and researchers took it as exogenous but in 1980s there emerged a huge body of literature and long run growth once again got space that take innovation as endogenous. They focus on innovation and its relationship with living standards and economic development. Furthermore, new age has been full of tremendous and mind boggling inventions that ushered eras of revolutions, from industrial revolution through information age, to the present Nano age. No wonder, the human life has been radically changed and improved. Today, innovation is a science fiction of the past and innovation of tomorrow is beyond reality of the future.

Certain examples can be provided to authenticate the claims of this theory, for instance, the total value of Apple Inc. has been \$2 Billion back in 1997 prior to its technological leaps in innovation in terms of its flagship iPhone and other products like iPad and iPod. Apple is now worth almost \$600 billion that is mostly due to

innovation and economic growth. Increase in the output of research, doesn't mean that this lead towards increase in the average growth rate because all the researches are not beneficial. Innovation is one of the most important component of economic growth.

Some studies up to some extent discourage innovation. According to Grossman and Helpman (1991) in their hypothesis, efficient innovation in south discourage innovation in north. Moreover, business stealing effect in which new innovation takes place of the old one, so the magnitude of innovation is going to decreases (Howitt and Aghion 1992). Furthermore, before 1992, Judd (1985) and Romer (1990) by using Dixit Stiglitz (1977) model of product variety conclude that "new products are no better than existing ones." On the other hand, Howitt and Aghion (1992) reject Judd (1985) and Romer (1990) point of view and comes up with the Schumpeter (1934) idea, a model of creative distraction in which new innovation continually destroying the old one

Many studies propose different sources of economic growth including human capital, investment, technological innovation and population growth (Barro, 1991, Solow, 1956). In the history many attempts have been made to capture the effect of capital accumulation on economic growth. Likewise, (Lucas et al 1998) describe as the major player to determine long run economic growth world around. In the support, some previous studies also discuss about the capital accumulation as a major contributor to economic growth (Colecchia and Schreyer, 2002, Rebelo, 1992, Tobin, 1965). Moreover, Bond et al., (2007) conclude that there is a large effect of investment, not just on the output per worker, but also on long run growth rate.

Furthermore, Beaudry et al. (2002) describe that there is a large effect of investment on growth. Equally, according to neo classical growth theories, long term economic growth can be acquired through total factor of productivity (TFP) which on its part demands technological progress to contribute in economic growth (Howitt 2004)

It is widely acknowledged that capital takes a passive rather more of a supportive role when it comes to output, in other words capital effect output with no or very little improvement in growth (Aghion and Howitt 1998). In addition, a theory of Solow and Swan (1956) holds water to a certain extent that there is a point after which an economy would experience diminishing return on further investment in capital and technology.

Some studies show that capital and innovation are important to each other. For example, Kuwahara (2012) describe that when there is sufficient grant of capital (investment in R&D) with long run positive growth rate, the regime will change. The reason behind is that when there is sufficient amount of capital endowment, it leads to falling R&D productivity. Further, when there is enough capital stock for supporting R&D, economy will achieve long run economic growth. According to Howitt and Aghion (1998), capital accumulation and technological progress need to play their own parts in complimentary manner to achieve continuous economic growth. However, the theoretical predictions of their model are not tested empirically. Therefore, this study attempts to fill-in this gap and investigates empirically, whether physical capital accumulation and innovation are complements or substitutes in generating economic growth.

1.1 Objective of the study

There are two main purpose of our study

- To test the theoretical model of Howitt and Aghion (Capital accumulation and technological innovation is complementary factor in long run growth process)
- b To explore whether there exist any complementary/Substitutability between technological innovation and capital

1.2 Hypotheses

On the basis of our discussion in the above sub-section of objectives and reviewing the literature we formalized the following hypothesis

- H1 The physical capital and innovation have a positive and significant impact on economic growth
- H2 Innovation and capital are complementary to each other

1.3 Scheme of Study

The organization of the study is as follows. Chapter 2 provides a review of growth literature related to innovation, literature on capital accumulation and literature on innovation and capital. Chapter 3 discuss about the theoretical framework. Chapter 4 describe the data and explain the empirical methodology used in our analysis. We discuss our estimation results in Chapter 5 and we conclude our thesis in Chapter 6.

Chapter 2

Literature Review

There is ample literature on innovation and capital accumulation. We identify three themes of literature. The first one is on innovation. Second discuss capital accumulation and the last one is the combine literature on both (innovation and capital). Some studies are in the favor of innovation. Some support capital and the last one combines both elements (innovation and capital) to determine economic growth.

2.1. Growth Literature Related to Innovation

Our review shows various forms of innovation literature related to rapid growth While some studies suggested that formal R&D spending (Coad and Rao 2008) or more general R&D activities facilitate rapid growth (Stam and Wennberg 2009) According to Romer (1990), increase in the ideas lead to accumulated returns. The accumulated ideas of an economy as a whole, rather than individual ideas, lead to increase in income per person. The idea generation and its subsequent applicability leads to enhanced growth of the economy. For example, the basic ways of farming are now replaced by mechanized farming, thus resulting in enhanced economic growth and increase in per capita income of a person. Likewise, R&D based models support this view and suggest that technological progress results for maximizing individual profit (Marrewijk 1999). Similarly, in endogenous growth models, (Romer 1990, Grossman and Helpman 1991, Aghion and Howitt 1998) conclude that the rate of technological progress results from incentives to innovate, as it determines

the long run economic growth without capital accumulation. Romer (1990) supports the idea that research leads to technological progress, which eventually drives economic growth Furthermore, Roberts et al (1995), while describing plant productivity and survivability, highlighted the two main advantages of using advance manufacturing technologies firstly, it could directly rise the plant productivity and survivability, and secondly, a plant that has best managerial ability can fully utilize advance manufacturing technologies and implement new methods of production, is able to survive and grow because of their efficiency return. This view is supported by Griliches and Siegel (1991) and Brynjolfson and Hitt (1993), use of advance manufacturing technologies and production are correlated to each other. This ultimately creates a positive relationship between survival, technology adoption and growth (Roberts et al., 1995) Moreover, Blanchard (1997) concluded that technological progress drives growth Furthermore, Aghion and Howitt (1992) by using the growth model based on Schumpeter's method of creative destruction conclude that competition in technological development amongst research companies advances economic growth. They also conclude in the favor of Schumpeter that innovation, if even by an individual, unusually benefits the whole economy Research is lifeline of innovation, without research innovation is dead and stagnant and technology would contribute to a certain point in economic growth, after that economic growth would become constant. Aghion and Howitt (1998) observed that humans need is the mother of all inventions. Empirical studies also support this notion and found that innovation has a positive impact on productivity of firms (Yih-Chyi and Chi-Mei 1999) According to Howitt (2000) point of view,

by using multi country model, indicated that diffusion and spillover of ideas could drive the convergence and growth

In this new era of innovation, technological levels have turned out to be the cardinal factors of competitive advantage. It is also known that technological change impacts more on social returns to investment than private returns. The most developed countries are now focusing on R&D and technological adoption (Mayer and Foster 2002). The innovation through R&D leads to greater saving in human capital and that raises the production per capita (Mayer and Foster 2002).

According to neoclassical framework investment is only important in short run, while technological progress is the key determinant in per capita growth in long run Boucekkine et al. (2002). Mayer and Foster (2002) analyzed the variation in total manufacturing productivity in Mexican municipios from 1988 to 1993 in terms of human and physical capital inputs and variation in their outcomes. They founded that rise in the outcomes of human capital proportionally raise productivity. They also concluded that human capital are directly correlated with technological change. Addition in human capital also increased technological change, resultantly increasing production. Some studies focusing on the changing trend from capital accumulation based growth to R&D based growth (Zilibott 1995, Matsuyama 1999, Funke and Strulik 2000, Galor and Moay 2004, Irmen 2005)

Innovation is one of the key determinants of long term economic growth. Olsen et al. (2011) views, while discussing the key innovation indicators, innovation policy methods are conceptualized planned and executed based on theoretical thoughtful on market and general failure that are recognized in the national innovation system.

According to this approach it is very important to rethink old policies on the way to new requirements, especially the requirements of identifying R&D based innovation as the main contributor in the present economies. Private innovative entities are focused on portfolios of innovative developments, it plays a dominant role in all kind of companies in order to get long term economic advantages. This interference basically focuses on innovative relationship, new business, long term and goal oriented. Also, another point of view present market contains new product and services in turn increases R&D, fresh internal knowledge, project effect on R&D. rise in the exports and sales, collaboration (profitable and innovative followers), generally project is successful, contribution of knowledge growth, impact to planed effort on innovation, and the final contribution to the corporation's stand as an attractive and innovative business having a lot of possibilities. Olsen et al. (2011) In recent decade, the trend of long run economic growth changed from capital accumulation to R&D because there is a strong connection between endogenous growth theory and long run economic growth Kuwahara (2012) He also found that when capital stock is sufficient for supporting R&D, long run economic growth will attain with R&D

Every economy has different or unique evaluation methods to control the economy. If a country wants to achieve long run economic growth, it must have low cost of intermediate goods and there must be higher R&D efficiency. When there will be higher R&D efficiency, it will lead towards increased long run economic growth and if an economy does not fulfill these terms and conditions, the economy is trapped in a vicious economic cycle. Kuwahara (2012). When their will be sufficient grant of capital (particularly for

Investment in R&D) long run positive growth rate and a steady state point will be achieved. The reason behind is that when their will be sufficient amount of capital endowment, it leads to falling investment in R&D productivity.

Afonso et al (2013) discussing about the long run relationship between skill structure and technological structure, used extended model of endogenous direct technical change on cross country data, conclude that there is a positive relationship between the skill structure (ratio of high to low skilled industrial workers) and the technological structure (high vs low tech industrial sector). Combining both elements, economy will achieve long run economic growth. He also observed that in the monopolistic economy that limits and revitalizes R&D for itself to prolong its market hegemony generating economic growth at a limited level. According to another point of view, Crescenzi and Pose (2013), using empirical analysis based on tailor made panel database from 1994 to 2007 of US, to forecast the innovation performance, observed that concentration of R&D activities is the key predictor at the local level. They also found that the key predictor for regional innovative performance is local R&D investment. In the same way, a huge literature describe that the important driver of innovative performance is local R&D investment at the local level in the U.S. (Feldman et al. 1996, Acs et al. 1997). Armengot et al. (2014) in his paper determine the factors of economic growth, using Romer (1990) model, analysis of three Southern European economies from 1960 to 2009, concluded that those economic policies which encourage technological progress, openness and innovation encourage economic growth and the economies that come to

an end or stop to convert themselves are meant to lost the path that leads to growth in economics

Besides, some studies describe, taking European economies as example, labor productivity is the factor of the growth in per capita income. More precisely, factors that fully utilized the available resources and involve technical progress and innovation in the production procedures (Caceres et al. (2011). Matear et al. (2012)), lead to increase in the total factor productivity (Howitt and Aghion 1992, Caballero and Jaffe 1993, Eaton and Kortum 1999, Mcgrattan and Schmitz 1999, Colino et al. 2013).

Some recent studies contribute the new vision on the factor of economic growth Armengot et al. (2014) sort out the contribution, the rate of growth increased by increasing in the stock of innovative ideas in the study state. In this study it is also investigated that the Southern European economies for the last half century, apparent labor growth is generally due to development of total factor productivity owing to technological progress and innovation. Another findings related to southern European economies, in 1960's shows that technological progress has increased 2 percent productivity per worker, hence, in economic growth

Further, one of the factor that effect economic growth is artificial intelligence. When it used to substitute workers with machines, it will lead to increase in the future economic growth. Fernald and Jones (2014)

Some studies do not support the above point of view. If we talk about developing countries, technological change is not well accounted for, and are

more focused on complementary and substitute strategies to increase productivity Mayer and Foster (2002). Whereas, in developed countries the effect of innovation and technological progress is quiet slow as compared to developing countries. Fernald and Jones (2014) discussing about the future of US growth, using Jones (2002) semi endogenous growth model and data from 1870 to 2012 concluded that the future of US is slower than its past

2.2. Literature on Capital Accumulation

Capital accumulation also plays an important role to boost economic growth. Some studies support it while some reject it. Studies that support capital accumulation towards economic growth are described below.

Capital plays an independent role in the plant productivity and is directly relevant with plant growth and negatively related with plant failure. Roberts et al. (1995). A conference in Prague held in June 2000 represents "physical capital accumulation was found to be the dominant source of growth both within and across regions".

Additionally Todaro (2000) says that "a necessary condition" for economic growth is increase in investment. Moreover, investment play a vital role for the economy of any country

People travel for education and working opportunities, in search of better standard of living. Therefore, the investment in enterprises will attract skilled labor force. Due to this, a large number of skilled labor and industrial attention will invite more specialized and innovative industry in the country. This will increase the productivity of the country and it leads to economic growth. Mayer and Foster (2002). In the same way Beaudry et al. (2002) concludes that there is large effect of investment in more current periods. Besides, the point that product demand is one of the key determinants for increase market size on technological change related. In the favor of this view Howitt and Mayer (2000), using convergence club model, concluded that human and physical capital create higher incentives for innovation through the rising revenues in

a higher market. According to significant view describe that investment in physical capital is not much important for economic growth Bond et al. (2004)

Some of the macro based indicators sets take account of the strength of project, the key indicator of innovative ability in a country is capital investment. The fact is that, countries have high private investment or great projects, shows great innovation action in the business sector. Olsen et al. (2011). Kuwahara (2012) evaluating the growth system shifting from factor accumulation to knowledge accumulation, using dynamic model that is based on Romer (1990) with endogenously accumulated R&D inputs. According to his final results, long run growth rate is positively connected to physical capital accumulation. Also, he showed that a country having low initial capital then its economic progress is based on capital accumulation.

Some studies criticize the above mention view of capital accumulation. According to Romer (1996) "the driving force of growth is accumulation of knowledge."

Capital accumulation is not central to growth."

Neo-classical framework states that in order to maintain economic growth rate in long run, there must be process of sustainable advancement in technological knowledge, like new products advance market or new process of production (Howitt and Aghion, 1998) Similarly, Jones (1995) and Blomstrom et al., (1996), finds no empirical evidence of capital accumulation and long run growth rates

Provided that recent empirical literature do not support any strong relationship between capital accumulation and growth (Easterly and Levine, 2001) Solow and Swan (1956) the critical property of aggregate production function show the diminishing returns if there is capital accumulation

2.3. Literature on Innovation and Capital Accumulation

Innovation and capital's combine effect is also support by the existing literature on economic growth. Innovation and capital's combined effect is also supported by the existing literature on economic growth. According to Roberts et al. (1995) while analyzing the plant performance developing three institution level U.S. Census. Bureau data sets, found that the plants engaging or using advance technologies and capital intensive plants have less risk, whereas capital intensive plants have less risk of failing and are higher succeeding rate of growth. They also found that rise in the advance manufacturing technologies (AMTs) and rises in the capital amount of input mix are positively correlated with plant growth and negatively correlated with plant failure. Some other author's analyze plant performance and show evidence that plant have to adopt latest and more capital demanding technologies (Mansfield 1968, Romeo 1975, Kelley and Brooks 1991 and Dunne 1994)

Howitt and Aghion (1998) developed a simple endogenous growth model which combines the elements of Solow and Swan neoclassical model of capital accumulation and their model of creative destruction (1992). The theoretical combines effect of capital accumulation and innovation on economic growth and finds that if there will be subsidy to physical or human capital, it will have a permanent effect on economic growth rate. Similarly Marrewijk (1999) suggests that capital and innovation are complementary to each other and neither of which takes

place without each other in long run. According to economists, factors that are responsible for defining the progress rate in the economies and the factors that rises multifactor efficiency are organizational factors, capital expanding and investment in research and training (Kaldor 1961, Shell 1966, Jones and Williams 1998)

Literature concludes that in the history of development and growth, especially in earlier 1980s, innovation takes as exogenous and had no such value. At that time capital is determine as a key factor in long run growth. But after 1980s and in earlier 1990s, one of the greatest main debates supported innovation and took it as an endogenous.

Armengot et al. (2014) Howitt and Aghion play a vital role to determine innovation as a key to long run economic growth. Now a days a lot of countries are trying to achieve long run economic growth and prosperity due to technological progress. Similarly capital plays crucial role, it is the one of the most significant factor for economic growth. When we combine both innovation and capital, they act like a substitutes of each other. According to our analysis, we also found that innovation and capital both are substitute to each other.

Chapter 3

Theoretical Framework

The top elementary share of growth theory in the long run is that in order to encourage a progressive growth rate of productivity per capita, the requirement is to be repeated developments in technological knowledge through innovative procedures

For the last two decades, economic history has practiced an excessive development of fresh growth theories. This developed literature is divided into two parts. The first type of models highlight on the endogenous accumulation of factors of production like human and physical capital (Bond et al. 1996, Lucas 1998, Barro and Sala-i-Martin 2003) The second type of models are (Romer 1990, Grossman and Helpman 1991, Howitt and Aghion 1992, Howitt and Aghion 1998) In these models they share a collective feature that purposive research actions cause the technical progress which is the major contributor in long run growth. In early 1980's, innovation have not much importance and not considered as a main component for determining long run economic growth but in late 1980's the whole scenario was changed and it became one of the main and key components for long run economic growth Equally, Howitt (2000), using Schumpeterian model describes that when their will be improvement in innovation in a country it will increase the productivity of the other countries. It means that the countries who carry out R&D have to converge to similar long run growth tracks. Likewise, in Phillip Lebel (2008), doing empirical study, he concluded that there is a positive effect of innovation on economic growth. Furthermore, Galindo and Mendez (2013) describe that economic action encourage innovation and entrepreneurship activities and that's lead towards economic growth. Moreover, Jones (1995), the initial AK model established by (Romer 1986, Lucas 1988, Rebelo 1991) and successive growth models made by (Romer 1990, Grossman and Helpman 1991, Howitt and Aghion 1992), recommended that investment has long lasting effect on economic growth rate of the economy. By technological spillovers and with learning by doing it can also expand the long run pathways of growth. Herrerias and Orts (2010). Additionally, they also concluded that vastly skilled workforces make bigger values of fresh improved quality changes of commodities and could rise the production of physical capital over specialization and by educating the learning by doing process and that's result increasing the efficiency and production.

Capital is one of the most important factor for generating long run economic growth Some authors like Howitt and Aghion (1998) suggest that, giving subsidy on capital is very reasonable for EG. In fact, physical capital stock is truly used by R&D, like used in offices, computers, additional technical tools, space vehicles, laboratories, tools required for testing and making experimental models, plants, and so on Rise in the rate of capital subsidy will increase the encouragement, not just to accumulate capital but as well as to innovate. This procedure will complete in two ways. The first one, rise in the capital stock must encourage greater R&D over and done with a scale effect. Due to this, it will increase the nationwide income and from this time the demand for the products made by successful innovators increases which is an incentive to innovate.

The second way, rise in the capital in the long run will decrease the cost of capital, and hence decrease the capital factor for the R&D cost (Howitt and Aghion 1998)

Literature shows that Howitt and Aghion (1998) article, they presented a Schumpeterian growth theory, which treats innovation and capital accumulation as equivalent contributor for long run growth. Their model includes the important features of Solow model (1956) of capital accumulation and Howitt and Aghion (1992) model of creative destruction is a simple framework. On the other hand, the interpretation of neoclassical growth idea and further endogenous growth ideas, when their will be a subsidy to capital accumulation, any human or physical that will effect permanent to the growth rate of the economy. According to this outcome, the acknowledgement of capital which is used as an input to R&D suggest that government have been faced by apparently unsolvable incentive difficulties when trying to support R&D straightly They argue that a wide support to capital accumulation is a mean of encouraging technological progress and growth in the long run as a direct subsidy to R&D. Such a support might work not by encouraging a greater rate of technological progress through learning by doing through increasing the rate at which new technologies are embodied in new capital goods but relatively by increasing the incentive to innovations, there need capital for the production and implementation

Chapter 4

Data and Empirical Methodology

4.1. Data

Our estimation technique examines three year averages of growth in 76 countries (developed and developing). There are 57 developed and 19 developing countries and the time period is from 1997-2013. Our dependent variable is economic growth of real GDP per capita (EG). Our independent variables are initial value of (log) real per capita GDP (Y0) include to control for convergence, average years of schooling (SCHOOL) to allow for human capital (Barro, 1991, Mankiw et al, 1992). Capital stock growth (CAP) and research and development expenditure percent of GDP (RND) are the core independent variables. The capital stock growth (CAP) is use as a measure of physical capital accumulation. For innovation we use two proxies. The first one is research and development expenditure percent of GDP (RND) use as input measure of innovation. The second is total number of patent applications per million of population (PATENT) as an output measure of innovation. For further robustness, we also include the following control variables in our basic model openness (OPEN), government size (GOV), and inflation (INF)

4.1.1. Dependent Variable

Our dependent variable is growth rate of real per capita GDP. This data is taken from World Development Indicators WDI (2013) database. This data is in constant 2005. U.S. dollars. GDP per capita is the sum of gross value by all resident makers added.

in the economy plus product taxes minus subsidies not counted in in the value of the products. This value is calculated without creating depletion of natural resources or generating deduction for depreciation of developed assets. GDP per capita basically is the gross domestic product divided by the midyear population. For creation of growth rate, first of all we take natural log of current value of real per capita. GDP and after that we subtract it from the natural log of previous value of real per capita. GDP and in the last we multiply it with 100. This method is repeated for each single country for the new variable of growth rate for every country.

4.1.2. Independent Variables

Capital stock growth (CAP) is used as a measure of physical capital accumulation. Its data is taken from Penn World Tables, version 8.0. We take data of capital stock at constant 2005 national prices (in million 2005/US\$). Research and Development expenditure percent of GDP (RND) data source is United Nation Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO). Institute for Statistic The definition of R&D expenditure percentage of GDP is the expenditure for research and development are recent and investment expenditure (both private and public) on inventive work carry out systematically to increase knowledge, society, culture and the use of information for new applicants. CAP*RND is the interaction term of capital stock growth and research and development expenditure percent of GDP. Total number of patent applications per million of population (PATENT) is used as an output measure of innovation. The data is taken from World Intellectual Property Organization (WIPO). For the construction of this variable, we take resident patent application, non-resident patent application and total population per million. First we

add resident and non-resident patent applications and then we divided by total population per million. After doing this we have total number of patent applications per million of population. CAP*PATENT is the interaction term of capital stock growth and total number of patent applications per million of population.

4.1.3. Control Variables

Y0 is the initial value of (log) real per capita GDP that is taken from WDI (2013) database. Y0 is found to be significant in a wide range of specifications in the empirical growth literature (Levine and Renell, 1992).

Secondary school enrolment percent of gross (SCHOOL) data is taken from United Nations Educational, Scientific, and Cultural Organization (UNESCO) Institute for Statistics which is secondary school enrolment percent of gross. Gross enrolment ratio is the ratio of total enrolment, unrelatedly to age, to the age group of population that formally match as the level of education made known.

Openness (OPEN) is the sum of exports of goods and services percentage of GDP and the imports of goods and services percentage of GDP. Openness data is taken from World Bank national accounts data and OECD National Accounts data files. The exports of goods and services represent the value of market services and all goods given to the world. The imports of goods and services represent the value of market services and all goods received from the world.

General government final consumption expenditure percentage of GDP (GOV) data is also taken from World Bank national accounts data and OECD National Accounts data files. GOV is general government final consumption expenditures also known

as formerly general government consumption. It contains the current expenditures of the government for the buying of goods and services, expenditures on national security and defence but excluding government military expenditures that are part of government capital formation.

Inflation (INF) data is taken from International Monetary Fund, International Financial Statistic and data files INF is measured by the consumer price index and reflects the annual percentage change in the cost of the average consumer of obtaining the basket of goods and services that may be fixed or changed at specified intervals

4.2. Summary Statistics

Table 4.1: Summary of Data for 76 Countries (Developed and Developing)

Variable	N	Mean	P50	SD	Min	Max
EG	456	2 597	2 500	2 941	-6 271	12 87
CAP	380	12 73	12 91	1 588	9 567	15 99
RND	375	-0 46	-0 387	1 062	-3 352	1 478
PATENT	412	4 48	4 529	1 579	-2 506	7 629
CAPRND	341	-6 156	-5 598	13 39	-44 58	19 30
CAPPATENT	352	58 39	57 22	23 24	-29 29	106 8
LY0	455	8 643	8 583	1 494	4 893	11 35
SCHOOL	420	4 454	4 537	0 351	2 283	5 047
OPEN	446	4 439	4 424	0 481	3 390	6 118
GOV	445	2 765	2 867	0 329	1 734	3 368
INF	452	2 031	1 907	0 657	-1 620	5 894

Note: EG is growth rate of real per capita GDP, CAP is log of physical capital stock. RND is log of R&D expenditures % of GDP, PATENT is log of total number of patent application per million of population, CAPRND is the log of CAP and RND (interaction term), CAPPATENT is the log of CAP and PATENT (interaction term), LY0 is log of initial value of real per capita GDP, SCHOOL is log of secondary school enrolment percent of gross, OPEN is log trade openness. GOV is log of general government final consumption expenditures and INF is log of inflation (CPI)

Table 4.2: Summary of Data for 57 Developed Countries

Variable	N	Mean	P50	SD	Mın	Max
EG	342	2 382	2 259	2 862	-6 270	12 87
CAP	285	13 03	13 22	1 537	9 567	15 98
RND	299	- 1957	· 1605	9522	-3 087	1 477
PATENT	312	4 991	4 965	1 195	2 016	7 628
CAPRND	265	-2 918	-2 517	12 53	-44 57	19 30
CAPPATENT	265	4042 0	1893 5	5464 2	102 5	27293 3
LYO	341	9 291	9 255	1 051	7 357	11 35
SCHOOL	324	4 559	4 561	1680	4 063	5 046
OPEN	332	4 497	4 472	4921	3 489	6 118
GOV	332	2 845	2 926	2952	1 855	3 368
INF	339	1 933	1 760	6721	-1 620	5 894

Note: EG is growth rate of real per capita GDP, CAP is log of physical capital stock, RND is log of R&D expenditures % of GDP, PATENT is log of total number of patent application per million of population, CAPRND is the log of CAP and RND (interaction term), CAPPATENT is the log of CAP and PATENT (interaction term), LY0 is log of initial value of real per capita GDP, SCHOOL is log of secondary school enrolment percent of gross, OPEN is log trade openness, GOV is log of general government final consumption expenditures and INF is log of inflation (CPI)

Table 4.3: Summary of Data for 19 Developing Countries

e 4.3: Summary o	I Date of						Min	1	/ax	
		Meal	n ,	P50	SD		-4 360	' '	2 37	1
Variable	N	3 24	3	3 079	3 08		9 95	5	14 93	-
EG	95	111	83	11 21		23	-3 3	52	1140 4 901	
CAP	76	-1:	501	-1 533 3 259	1	570	-25		1 62	
RND	100	1	887	-16 58	1 9	678	1	9 28	70 (
CAPRND	76	1	7 44 34 72	38 23		9 40		893	77	96
CAPPATENT	87		6 702	6 904		7523		2 283	4	639
LYO	114		4 096	4 35	2	5286 403	, _	3 390	- 5	090
SCHOOL			4 268	· 1		405 310		1 734		175
OPEN	\	13	2 528	l		76		-3 64	5	3 413
INF		13	2 17	• \	290	CA	P is lo	g of p	l hysical	capit
INF	arowth	rate	of real	per capit	a GDI	r, CA r GDI	PISK P. PA	ENT	is log	of

Note. EG is growth rate of real per capita GDP, CAP is log of physical capital stock. RND is log of R&D expenditures % of GDP, PATENT is log of total number of patent application per million of population, CAPRND is the log of CAP and RND (interaction term), CAPPATENT is the log of CAP and PATENT (interaction term), LY0 is log of initial value of real per capita GDP, SCHOOL is log of secondary school enrolment percent of gross, OPEN is log trade openness, GOV is log of general government final consumption expenditures and INF is log of inflation (CPI)

4.3. Estimation Methodology

In this section we discuss estimation methods and model specification that are used in our methodology. We use an interaction model as used by Brambor et al. (2006) and Bhatti et al. (2013).

$$EG_{it} = \beta_1 Y O_{it} + \beta_2 SCHOOL_{it} + \beta_3 CAP_{it} + \beta_4 INO_{it} + \beta_5 CAP^*INO_{it} + \beta_6 X' + \eta_1 + u_{it}$$

$$I = 1, 2, 3, \dots, 76$$

$$t = 1997, 1998, 1999, \dots, 2013$$

where, EG is economic growth, Y_0 is log of initial real per capita GDP, SCHOOL is human capital, CAP is capital stock growth, INO is innovation, we use two measures of innovation research and development (RND) and PATENT RND is used as input of innovation and PATENT is used as output of innovation X' is a vector of control variables such as OPEN, GOV and INF, u is stochastic error term. The subscripts (i) and (i) represent countries and time respectively

For the estimation of our model, we used Hausman test to make a choice between random effect and fixed effect. When we apply Hausman test on our model it gave us the results that fixed effect is feasible for our model. We estimate the above equation two times by employing the method of fixed effects for panel data models as used by Islam (1995). First we estimate our model from RND (used as an input measure of innovation) and then we estimate our model from PATENT (used as an output measure of innovation). The first equation that we estimate with RND is.

$$EG_{1t} = \beta_1 Y O_{1t} + \beta_2 SCHOOL_{1t} + \beta_3 CAP_{1t} + \beta_4 RND_{1t} + \beta_5 CAP^*RND_{1t} + \beta_6 X' + \eta_1 + u_{1t}$$

$$1 = 1, 2, 3, ----, 76$$

$$t = 1997, 1998, 1999, ----, 2013$$

The second equation that we estimate with PATENT is

$$EG_{tt} = \beta_1 Y O_{tt} + \beta_2 SCHOOL_{tt} + \beta_3 CAP_{tt} + \beta_4 PATENT_{tt} + \beta_5 CAP^*PATENT_{tt} + \beta_6 X' + \eta_1 + u_{tt}$$
 (4.3)
 $t = 1, 2, 3, ----, 76$
 $t = 1997, 1998, 1999, ----, 2013$

Hausman test define whether the random effect model is more reliable or the fixed effect method. This test examines the null hypothesis that random effect model is effective and reliable in contrast to the alternative hypothesis that random effect model is unreliable. In our case it prefer fixed effect. Further, we use robust option of STATA with all our regression equations.

4.4.1. Fixed Effect Estimation

Panel data delivers us new information regarding "within variability" of matters and time periods, as a result regression methods used for panel data, allow us to advantage from these not the same types of information. We analyze panel data by additional regression procedures as a substitute of specific regression procedures established for panel data but these other obtainable regression methods will not be ideal since of the problematic of absent variable bias. The outcomes attained from common methods might be biased for the reason that it does not deliberate some

variables which cannot be detected but may affect the dependent variable. There are two types of such unobserved effects. First is fixed effect and the second one is random effect. Hear we discuss the first type.

Fixed effect which think through variations within subjects but keep on constant over time. An amount of panel data methods are used in the growth literature to evaluate econometric models. As Islam (1995), Arellano and Bover (1995) and Bond et al. (2001), we also used Fixed Effect technique for panels. This technique is mainly used to deal with the unobserved effects that differ within cases but stay constant over time. It agrees us to developed the cross sectional facts for panel data to clarify the inconsistency of dependent variable with respect to independent variables and overlooked time invariant things. The core advantage of fixed effect model is that it agree to unobserved specific effects to be connected with additional explanatory variables. The indication is that, in gathering data, there might be probability of unconscious lack of knowledge of some variables which can be disturb the dependent variable. Consequently, these unnoticed variables are covered by unnoticed effects.

4.4.2. Random Effect Estimation

The second type of unobserved effect is random effect which measures the effect that keep on constant inside subjects but differ over time. This estimation method studies the time series data of the panel data as additional significant. This model assumes that unobserved effects are uncorrelated with explanatory variables in each time interval. In detail, the assumption of fixed and random effect models is the same but in random effect, an adding unnoticed effects are uncorrelated with descriptive variables in collectively time period.

4.4.3. Hausman Test

The fundamental difference among random and fixed effect method depend on the correlation among single specific effects and the descriptive variables of a regression Random effects method does not measure the connection among single specific effect and descriptive variables, whereas fixed effect agree to this correlation. This change of expectation plays an essential role used for the investigators to pick out in the middle of random and fixed effects. Many investigators discover fixed effect by means of an additional suitable tool to approximate the panel data for the reason that it measured constant effects. Random effects technique is likewise used in convinced circumstances, precisely in models where fundamental independent variable is constant over time. Even though these two panel data procedures have exclusive features, but it is problematic to choose between random and fixed effects used for a regression. To overcome this trouble a detailed test for selecting in the middle of random effects and fixed effects model remained developed by Hausman (1978) For a detailed data set and model, Hausman test observes whether the random effects technique is additionally effective or the fixed effects technique. Hausman test examines the null hypothesis that random effects model is reliable and effective in contrast to the alternate hypothesis that random effects model is unreliable. We accomplish Hausman test to pick out in the middle of random effects and fixed effects by means of a technique of estimation, and our examination result favor the technique of fixed effects. In addition, we use robust selection of STATA by means of all our regression equation

Chapter 5

Estimation and Results

Before 1980,s most of the literature mostly focus on the capital. Capital is the main component for long run economic growth (Mansfield 1968 and Romeo 1975). In mid-1980s most of the researchers focus on innovation that plays a leading role for the long run economic growth (Olsen et al. 2011, Kuwahara 2012, Crescenzi and Pose 2013)

Our empirical analysis consists of 3 year averages on 76 countries (developed and developing). In our models we use two measures of innovation, first is research and development (RND) as input and the second one is PATENT as output measure of innovation. So our results of both RND and PATENT are in separate tables as mentioned below. Our results are given in Table 5.1 with RND and Table 5.2 with PATENT. For further robustness, we split our data into developed and developing countries. There are 57 developed countries with three year averages and their results are shown in Table 5.3 with RND and Table 5.4 with PATENT and 19 developing countries and their results are shown in Table 5.5 with RND and Table 5.6 with PATENT.

The dependent variable in our model is economic growth (EG). It further include two types (1) explain that all outliers are including in this model and (2), which describe that this model is not including outliers. Model (2) is our general model in Table 5.1,

Table 5.1: 3 year averages for 76 countries (developed and developing)

3 Years Average	Mod Base		Model 2 General			
Coefficient	All Obs (1)	Outliers Excluded (2)	All Obs (3)	Outhers Excluded (4)		
CAP_{it}	1 239	1 883	- 2708	2338		
RND_{it}	(0 552) 8 223	(0 191) 11 74**	(0 898) 6 003	(0 864) 11 18***		
$CAP_{it} * RND_{it}$	(0 272) - 7981	(0 034) -1 038**	(0 3 8 7) - 590]	(0 010) - 9527***		
	(0 171)	(0 017)	(0 291)	(0 007)		
	Contro	l Variables				
$Y0_{it}$	-6 077***	-6 815***	-6 645***	-7 004***		
SCHOOL_{it}	(0 000) 4 844*	(0 000) 5 934***	(0 001) 4 487*	(0 000) 4 553***		
OBEN	(0 088)	(0 002)	(0 064) 6 613***	(0 001) 7 242***		
OPEN _{tt}			(0 000)	(0 000)		
GOV_{it}			-7 529** (0 023)	-9 981*** (0 000)		
INF_{it}			- 9873**	- 9767***		
			(0 019)	(0 003)		
Number of Observation	326	295	325	285		

Notes The p-values are reported in brackets ***, ** and * indicate significance at 1%, 5% and 10 % respectively. The dependent variable is real per capita GDP growth CAP is log of physical capital stock growth, RND is log of R&D expenditures *o of GDP CAPRND is the log of CAP and RND (interaction term). LY0 is log of initial value of real per capita GDP SCHOOL is secondary school enrolment. OPEN is log trade openness GOV is log of general government final consumption expenditures and INF is log of inflation (CPI).

5 2, 5 3, 5 4, 5 5 and 5 6 Model (3) is our Parsimonious model in Table 5 5 and 5 6 Model (1) is our baseline model which think through our main explanatory variables that is physical capital stock (CAP), R&D expenditures percent of GDP (RND), interaction of physical capital stock and R&D expenditures percent of GDP (CAP*RND), initial value of real per capita GDP (Y0) and human capital (SCHOOL) To get model (2), we take account of the control variables in model (1) such as OPEN, GOV and INF at the same time to evaluate the growth model in comprehensive view. For the estimation of model (3), we eliminates some control variables step by step till our model gave us best possible results. This practice is only in Table 5.5 and 5.6. In Table 5.1, model (1) and model (2) is divided in to two parts. The first part is including outliers and the second part is without outliers. In Table 5 1, model (1) the coefficient of CAP shows that the impact of CAP on EG in first regression are positive and insignificant with and without outliers but in second model CAP has negative and insignificant effect including outliers but gave same results as model one without outliers, their amount on the other hand be different through the regression with not the same control variables. The results of RND in models (1) and (2) are positively related to economic growth in all regression but insignificant in both models with outliers with economic growth and significant without outliers with EG. The results indicate that RND plays a vital and key role for long term economic growth and it's very much important to improve the goods and its production process efficiently. The interaction term CAP*RND has negative

relationship with EG in all regression of model (1) and (2) Negative sign shows that

physical capital stock (CAP) and research and development expenditures percent of GDP (RND), they are substitute to each other. This interaction term CAP*RND has insignificant effect on EG (including outliers) and highly significant effect on EG (without outliers) in both models. Our baseline theoretical results also show that CAP and RND are substitute to each other (Howitt and Aghion, 1998).

The log of initial real per capita GDP (Y0) is involved to put up the merging effects in growth regression. In these two models Y0 show negative and highly significant coefficient (with and without outliers) of initial value of real per capita GDP (Y0). Outcomes of growth regression used for combined data indicate that the variable of human capital which is average of schooling years (SCHOOL) has a positive and highly significant impact on EG (with and without outliers) in both model (1) and model (2). Some previous studies observe that quality of education is important for EG. The literature and common hypothesis indicate the positive influence of human capital on EG, however some time results show negative sign, it may be due to the existence of outliers. Studies that show negative effect of human

Capital on EG are Pritchett (2001) and Benhabib and Spiegel (1994)

The control variables that we use in our model are openness (OPEN), government size (GOV) and inflation (INF). The results of openness (OPEN) describe a positive and extremely significant (with and without outliers) relationship with EG. The results of Government size (GOV) indicate negative and highly significant effect (with and without outliers) on economic growth. Similarly, inflation results also show negative and highly significant effect (with and without outliers) on economic growth.

Table 5.2: 3 year averages for 76 countries (developed and developing)

3 Years	Mod		1	del 2
Average		line	+	ieral
Coefficient	All Obs (1)	Outliers Excluded (2)	All Obs (3)	Outhers Excluded (4)
CAP_{it}	2 114	2 020	4639	7988
	(0 348)	(0 221)	(0 849)	(0 580)
PATENT _{it}	5 735*	5 452**	3 943	5 028**
	(0 061)	(0 031)	(0 126)	(0 014)
CAP _{it} * PATENT _{it}	- 4402*	- 3775*	- 2942	- 3753**
	(0 090)	(0 072)	(0 148)	(0 018)
	Cont	rol Variables	<u> </u>	
				
YO _{tt}	-5 274***	-4 464***	-6 158***	-4 837***
	(100 0)	(0 001)	(0 001)	(0 001)
SCHOOL _{it}	5 110**	5 097***	5 261***	5 422***
	(0 019)	(0 004)	(0 007)	(0 000)
OPEN			6 171***	5 613***
			(0 001)	(0 000)
GOVit			-6 398**	-9 968***
			(0 021)	(0 000)
INF _u			-1 251***	-1 098***
			(0 001)	(0 001)
Number of Observation	335	306	334	303
Observation				

Notes. The p-values are reported in brackets ***, ** and * indicate significance at 1%, 5% and 10 % respectively. The dependent variable is real per capita GDP growth CAP is log of physical capital stock growth. PATENT is log of total number of patent application per million of population CAPPATENT is the log of CAP and PATENT (interaction term). LYO is log of initial value of real per capita GDP SCHOOL is secondary school enrolment. OPEN is log trade openness. GOV is log of general government final consumption expenditures and INF is log of inflation (CPI).

In Table 5.2, the core and main variables like physical capital stock (CAP) with PATENT show positive and insignificant effect on EG. These results are very nearly to RND results in Table 5.1 and just only one sign is negative in Table 5.1 in general model (with outliers). This means that the effect of CAP is positively related to economic growth but not significant. According to these results CAP is less important as compare to innovation. PATENT results describe that there is positive and significant effect on EG but in model 2 (with outliers) the results are less insignificant but positive. These innovation outcomes highly effect the long run economic growth. Agreeing to our results, innovation is the key component for long run economic growth. Through innovation economies can grow and become the leadings economies of the world. The interaction term of CAP and PATENT (CAP*PATENT) shows that its effect on economic growth (with and without outliers) is negative and significant both baseline and general model. Negative sign shows that CAP and PATENT are substitute to each other as Howitt and Aghion (1998) find in their theoretical model.

In Table 5 2, Y0 results show negative and extremely significant connection with EG in both models (with and without outliers). These results are so much similar to the results of RND. In the same way the results of secondary school enrollment (SCHOOL) of RND and PATENT are almost similar to each other SCHOOL results are positive and highly significant relation by EG (with and without outliers). The reason of their positive and highly significant results show that education is one of the most important variable to determine the long run economic growth. When people get education and especially technical education, people start innovating new-

Table 5.3: 3 Year Averages for 57 Developed Countries

Developed Countries With (RND)	Mod Base	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Model 2 General		
Coefficient	All Obs (1)	Outliers Excluded (2)	All Obs (3)	Outliers Excluded (4)	
CAP_{it}	2 384	2 085	3 311	2 323	
RND_{iL}	(0 455) 10 03	(0 356) 10 81	(0 265) 9 833	(0 174) 10 89**	
CAP _{tt} * RND _{tt}	(0 237) - 9760	(0 4)	(0 140) - 889 7	(0 015) - 9100**	
	(0 141)	(0 068)	(0 116)	(0 012)	
		ol Variables			
Y0 _{tt}	-7 184***	-7 266***	-11 46***	-102[***	
SCHOOL _{it}	(0 004) 5 333*	(0 001) 6 017**	(0 000) 3 150	(0 000) 3 917***	
OPEN _{tt}	(0 090)	(0 011)	(0 248) 8 754***	(0 006) 8 230***	
GOV_{it}			(0 000) -11 36***	(0 000) -11 81***	
INF _{it}			(0 000) -1 003**	(0 000) -1 014***	
···· it			(0 034)	(0 003)	
Number of Observation	259	237	258	23	

Notes: The p-values are reported in brackets ***, ** and * indicate significance at 1%, 5% and 10 % respectively. The dependent variable is real per capita GDP growth CAP is log of physical capital stock growth, RND is log of R&D expenditures % of GDP CAPRND is the log of CAP and RND (interaction term). LY0 is log of initial value of real per capita GDP SCHOOL is secondary school enrolment. OPEN is log trade openness. GOV is log of general government final consumption expenditures and INF is log of inflation (CPI).

-invention and new production process that leads to increase in the efficiency of production, it leads to increase in economic growth. The results of control variables OPEN, GOV and INF of Table 5 1 and 5 2 (with and without outliers) are same In first 2 Tables, 5 I and 5 2 we discuss about 76 developed and developing countries further we split our data in to two categories, 57 developed and 19 developing countries and check the results. First we take 57 developed countries and run a regression and Table 5.3 shows these results. In Table 5.3 results of CAP shows that the relationship of CAP and EG are positively and insignificantly associated with each other in both baseline and general model (with and without outliers). In developed countries the effect of investment is positive but insignificant because developed countries economic growth is already at high level. So when we spend more, the effect of CAP is slowly effect the economic growth so that's why it's insignificant RND results are also positively related to economic growth (EG) in both models but in our baseline model it's insignificant with outliers and without outliers. These results in developed countries may be due to highly competitive markets and high investment in innovation. When there will be highly competitive markets, less possibility to earn huge profits, due to this almost every large firms will invest in innovation. The possibility of new and effective innovations are going to decrease, people will discourage due to the failure in producing new products or inventions, may be that's the reason our results are insignificant. In general model, including control variables (with outliers), RND results are insignificant with EG while excluding outliers results are significant. These results are supported by our main regression models in Table 5.1 and 5.2. The interaction term of CAP and RND

shows negative impact on EG in both models. The significance of interaction is different with and without outliers. With outliers the interaction term is insignificant with EG in both models while excluding outliers the results are significantly related to EG. These results are similar to the Tables 5.1 and 5.2.

in Table 5.3 initial real per capita GDP (Y0) results determine the negative and extremely significant relationship with EG in both baseline and general model (with and without outliers). When we talk about secondary school enrollment (SCHOOL), it has a positive and significant impact on economic growth (EG) in both models, but in model 2 (with outliers) the results are insignificant. This may be due to outliers. The effect of secondary school enrollment (SCHOOL) on developed countries is positive, means education is very much important to achieve the long run growth. In our general model, Table 5.3, the control variable openness (OPEN) has positively and it is significantly connected to EG in developed countries. The general government final consumption expenditures (GOV) has negatively related to economic growth (with and without outliers) and it's also very significant. As always, inflation (INF) has negative but significant effect with EG.

In Table 5.4 we run our regression on 57 developed countries with PATENT (output measure of innovation). The main findings of the central independent variable are CAP has positively affect our main dependent variable in baseline and general model. Furthermore, in baseline model it is insignificant (with and without outliers) but in general including control variables, with outliers it is insignificant but while excluding outliers it becomes significant. The results of PATENT shows that in both model its effect is positively related to EG but including outliers in both model it is

Table 5.4: 3 Year Averages for 57 Developed Countries

Developed Countries With (PATENT)	Mod Base			del 2 ieral
Coefficient	All Obs (1)	Outliers Excluded (2)	All Obs (3)	Outhers Excluded (4)
CAP _{it}	3 261	4 188	2 256	4 712**
PATENT	(0 362) 5 707	(0 136) 7 198**	(0 492) 2 964	(0 021) 6 517***
CAP _{tt} * PATENT _{tt}	(0 110) - 4491	(0 015) - 5469**	(0 271) - 2309	(0 006) - 5130***
į	(0 136)	(0 023)	(0 290)	(0 006)
	Control	Variables		
YOu	-6 9 51***	-6 571***	-10 39***	-9 971 ***
SCHOOL _{it}	(0 007) 5 446**	(0 005) 6 21 2***	(0 000) 2 864	(0 000) 3 752***
OPEN _{tt}	(0 019)	(0 000)	(0 221) 8 548***	(0 005) 6 095***
GOV_{it}			(0 000) -11 21***	(0 000) -13 96***
INF _{it}			(0 000) -1 427***	(0 000) -1 302***
[[(0 002)	(0 000)
Number of Observation	257	234	257	233

Notes: The p-values are reported in brackets ***, ** and * indicate significance at 1%, 5% and 10 % respectively. The dependent variable is real per capita GDP growth CAP is log of physical capital stock growth. PATENT is log of total number of patent application per million of population. CAPPATENT is the log of CAP and PATENT (interaction term). LYO is log of initial value of real per capita GDP SCHOOL is secondary school enrolment. OPEN is log trade openness. GOV is log of general government final consumption expenditures and INF is log of inflation (CPI).

insignificant but when we remove outliers in our regression the it shows significant to economic growth. These results show the importance of innovation for attaining long run economic growth. The interaction term results show that CAP and PATENT are substitute to each other because of the negative sign in both models (with and without outliers). The interaction term is insignificant with EG including outliers in both models and after excluding outliers it become significant.

In Table 5 4, the results of Y0 conclude negatively related to EG and highly significant in both models SCHOOL has positive and significantly related to EG (with and without outliers) but in general model the results are insignificant with outliers and become significant without outliers. Furthermore, the results of control variables are similar to the results in Table 5 3

In Table 5.5, we split our data in to two parts developed and developing countries and take 19 developing countries with 3 years averages. In this Table we estimate three models. First two models are the same as we estimate before but the third parsimonious model, we estimate to get good results. The main independent variable CAP shows positive and highly insignificant connected to economic growth in all three models (with and without outliers) but it's not highly significant in model (1) without outliers. The positive sign of CAP shows that in developing, investment in RND expenditures like equipment's, infrastructure and salaries of highly qualified employees. When there is investment in these sectors, it defiantly effect the EG positively. According to our point of view, the reason why it's not significant in developing countries is due to lack facilities or it may be due to lack of investment.

Table 5.5: 3 Year Averages for 19 Developing Countries

Poor Countries With RND						odel 3 monious	
Coefficient	All Obs (1)	Outliers Excluded (2)	All Obs (3)	Outliers Excluded (4)	All Obs (5)	Outliers Excluded (6)	
CAP _{tt}	7807 (0 778)	3 215 (0 180)	8300 (0 832)	5680 (0 877)	0517 (0 985)	9788 (0 736)	
RND _{it}	-8 8 74 (0 663)	5 859 (0 637)	-28 54 (0 241)	-11 76 (0 523)	-29 21 (0 232)	2 052 (0 892)	
CAP _{it} * RND _{it}	7633 (0 638)	- 4523 (0 672)	2 396 (0 226)	(0 325) 1 097 (0 475)	2 459 (0 223)	-0 417 (0 975)	
		Contro	l Variables	3			
Υ0 _{ιτ}	-3 822* (0 086)	-7 652*** (0 004)	-1 448 (0 559)	-3 249* (0 092)	-1 300 (0 603)	-1 364 (0 572)	
SCHOOL _{IL}	3 7 1 2 (0 4 6 4)	5 220 (0 176)	3 617 (0 362)	2 944 (0 339)	5 024	6955 (0 864)	
OPENit			4 654* (0 082)	3 174 (0 250)			
GOV_{it}			-10 24 (0 158)	-11 53 (0 128)	-9 509* (0 106)	-8 039* (0 102)	
INF _{it}			-2 346 (0 120)	-1 793 (0 193)			
Number of Observation	67	61	67	66	67	65	

Notes: The p-values are reported in brackets ***, ** and * indicate significance at 1%, 5% and 10% respectively. The dependent variable is real per capita GDP growth CAP is log of physical capital stock growth, RND is log of R&D expenditures % of GDP CAPRND is the log of CAP and RND (interaction term). LY0 is log of initial value of real per capita GDP SCHOOL is secondary school enrolment. OPEN is log trade openness. GOV is log of general government final consumption expenditures and INF is log of infilation (CPI).

RND results in model (1) (with outliers) shows negative and insignificant with economic growth. While excluding outliers it becomes positive but still insignificant. Model (3) results of RND are the same as model one. In model (2), results indicates negative and insignificant with EG. The interaction term CAP*RND in model (1) and model (3) indicates similar results. It indicates positive and insignificant to EG. In general model shows positive and insignificant effect on EG. In general model positive sign shows that CAP and RND are substitute to each other.

Initial real per capita GDP (Y0) shows that it is negatively related to economic growth and it is significant in baseline model and insignificant in model (2) and (3) with economic growth. Secondary school enrollment (SCHOOL) represent positive but insignificant with economic growth in all models (with and without outliers).

In model (2), including control variable (OPEN) shows positive relation with EG but with outliers it shows significant to EG but without outliers it indicates insignificant effect with EG. In developing countries trade shows positive but insignificant effect to EG. In our point of view, these results are due to less exports and high imports because in developing countries there are low level investment, machinery, little assets and low level of skilled labor etc. Due to all this, the production process is not efficient and the production of developing were very low, that's lead to decrease in exports so that's why OPEN is insignificant with EG (without outliers). The results of GOV shows negatively related to economic growth because when government spend high expenditures it negatively affect the EG. In model (2) it is insignificant and in model (3) in becomes significant. This significant shows that the expenditures made by government are productive, efficient and beneficial for the economy

In model (2), INF shows negative and insignificant with economic growth

In 19 developing countries, Table 5 6, we run our regression with PATENT as an output measure of innovation. The central variables in our regression like CAP, in model (1) and (2) shows negative and insignificant relationship related to EG (with outliers) but when outliers are excluded, at that time it became positive but insignificant. The positive sign shows that in developing countries, the effect of CAP is positively related to EG. The reason is that when there is investment in under developed countries, the rate of EG grow faster as compare to developed countries In parsimonious model, the effect of CAP is totally negative with EG (with and without outliers) Table 5 6, model 1, results of PATENT shows that, in developing countries, PATENT are positively related to EG (with and without outliers) When there will be investment in innovation, production process becomes efficient because of new innovations, productivity and exports will increase and that will increase EG In model (2) and (3), the effect of PATENT is negative and insignificant with EG (including outliers) while without outliers the effect is positive but still insignificant to EG. The interaction term results shows that in all models the effect of CAP and PATENT are positive and insignificant related to EG (with outliers), this means that they are complementary to each other and we used both CAP and PATENT to generate long run economic progress while without outliers the interaction concludes negative and insignificant relation to EG. Here negative sign concludes that they are substitute to each other and that is our required results

In under developed countries the relationship between Y0 and EG in Table 5 6, model (1) shows that they are negative and significant (with outliers) but when we

exclude them the sign remain same but it turn into insignificant. The remaining models (1) and (2) results describe that its results is negative and insignificant (with outliers) and when outliers are deleted then the effect is positive and insignificant in model (2) and significant in model (3) SCHOOL has positive effect on EG in all models but in model (1), it is totally insignificant (with and without outliers) and in model (2) and (3) it is significant with outliers and insignificant without outliers. The positive sign shows that in developing countries education is basically required to generate economic growth because without education the economy will not work efficiently. The reason is that when people have no knowledge and they don't know how to do efficient work, how to generate new innovations, how to generate new products etc. This all depend on education

The findings of control variables in unindustrialized countries like OPEN shows positive effect on EG in model (2) and (3) but it shows insignificant results in model (2) (with and without outliers). In parsimonious model, the openness results are insignificant including outliers while it becomes significant excluding outliers. The positive effect shows that in developing countries, the effect of openness (OPEN) is positive, means that when their will be an open economy, that's insolently grow the EG. When we talk about government expenditures percent of GDP (GOV) in emerging countries the effect is negative due to the expenditures made by government. The effect of GOV is insignificant in model (2) with outliers and it's significant without outliers. In third model it is totally significant. The effect of inflation (INF) on EG is negative and insignificant (with and without outliers).

Summary:

We use panel data which examines three year averages of growth on 76 developed and developing, 57 developed and 19 developing countries. The results from 76 developed and developing countries and 57 developed countries show that innovation and capital accumulation are substitute to each other. We cannot take them at the same time. The remaining results from 19 developing countries has a lot of variability. So the conclusion of our results is to choose one between innovation and capital accumulation.

Chapter 6

Conclusion and Results

Capital and technological innovation plays a vital role in the economies for generating long run growth. The main objectives of our study is to test the theoretical model of Howitt and Aghion (1998) and to examine whether capital and technological innovations are complementary/substitutes to each other. In our study we divided our data in to three categories. First we take a panel data of 76 countries (developed and developing) by using two different proxies for innovation. First one is RND as an input and the second one is PATENT used as an output measure for innovation. We run our first regression with RND and two models, baseline and general model for examining the combined relationship of innovation and capital with economic growth. Similarly, in second regression we just replace RND with PATENT. Secondly, we take 57 developed countries from our data and run a regression. It also has two regression, one is with RND and the second one is with PATENT. Finally, we run a regression on 19 developing countries with RND and

In our first model using RND, our results show that innovation and capital are substitute to each other in developed and developing countries. Innovation shows positive and significant effect on EG while capital shows positive but insignificant effect on EG.

In second model, using PATENT as an output measure for innovation shows the same result as we find from our first model

Similarly, when we run our third and fourth model with RND and PATENT in 57 developed countries, we find the same results as we obtain from our first model

On the contrary, the results of fifth and sixth model, using RND and PATENT in 19 developing countries are not much satisfying. There is a lot of variation in these results

At the end we conclude that innovation and capital are substitutes. Our first four models show that innovation plays a vital role to determine long run growth for developed and developing countries and especially for developed countries. On the other hand our fifth and sixth models show that capital has positive effect in developing countries.

Policy Recommendation

These results suggest that rather than focusing on these two factors, the policy makers may consider any of them, particularly innovation to enhance economic growth

References:

Acs, Z J, & Preston, L (1997) Small and medium-sized Enterprises, Technology and Globalization. Introduction to a special issue on small and medium-sized Enterprises in the Global Economy. Small Business Economics, 9(1), 1-6

Agenor, P. R., & Neanidis, K. C. (2010). Innovation, Public Capital, and Growth Aghion, P., Akcigit, U., & Villaverde, J. F. (2013). Optimal Capital versus Labor Taxation with Innovation-Led Growth. Retrieved from

Aghion, P., Harris, C., Howitt, P., & Vickers, J. (2001). Competition, Imitation and Growth with step-by-step Innovation. Review of Economic Studies, 467-492.

Aghion, P, & Howitt, P (1992) A Model of Growth through Creative Destruction
The Econometric Society, 60(2), 323-351

Aghion, P. & Howitt, P. (1996). Research and Development in the Growth Process. Journal of Economic Growth, 1(1), 49-73.

Aghion, P. Howitt, P., Brant-Collett, M., & Garcia-Penalosa, C. (1998) Endogenous Growth Theory. MIT press

Aghion, P, & Tirole, J (1994) Opening the Black Box of Innovation European Economic Review, 38(3), 701-710

Arcllano, M., & Bover, O. (1995). Another Look at the Instrumental Variable. Estimation of Error-Components Models. Journal of Econometrics.

Attanasio, O. P., Picci, L., & Scorcu, A. E. (2000). Saving Growth and Investment. A macroeconomic analysis using a panel of countries. The review of economics and statistics, 82(2), 182-211.

Audretsch, D. B., & Feldman, M. P. (1996). R&D Spillovers and the Geography of Innovation and Production. The American Economic Review, 630-640.

Stam, E, & Wennberg, K (2009) The roles of R&D in new firm growth Small Business Economics, 33(1), 77-89

Awel, A M (2013) The Long-Run Relationship between Human Capital and Economic Growth in Sweden

Barro, R (1989) Economic Growth in a Cross Section of Countries National Bureau of Economic Research

Beaudry, P., Collard, F., & Green, D. A. (2002). Decomposing the Twin-Peaks in the World Distribution of Output-Per-Worker. National Bureau of Economic Research.

Bhatti, A. A., Haque, M. E., & Osborn, D. R. (2013). Is the Growth Effect of Financial Development Conditional on Technological Innovation?

Blomstrom, M, Lipsey, R E, & Zejan, M (1993) Is Fixed Investment the Key to Economic Growth? Retrieved from

Blomstrom, M, Lipsey, R E, & Zejan, M (1993) Is Fixed Investment the Key to Economics Growth? National Bureau of Economic Research

Blundell, R, & Bond, S (1998) Initial Conditions and Moment Restrictions in Dynamic Panel Data Models Journal of Econometrics, 87, 115-143

Bond, S., Leblebicioglu, A., & Schiantarelli, F. (2007). Capital Accumulation and Growth. A New Look at the Empirical Evidence.

Bond, S., Leblebicioglu, A. & Schiantarelli, Γ (2010) Capital Accumulation and Growth. A new Look at the Empirical Evidence. Journal of Applied Econometrics, 25(7), 1073-1099

Brambor, T, Clark, W R, & Gloder, M (2005) Understanding Interaction Models Improving Empirical Analyses Political Analysis, 14, 63-82

Buckley, C. & Chatterjee, I (2012) Drivers of Product Innovation by Australian SMEs. The Importance of Managerial Attitude

Colecchia, A, & Schreyer, P (2001) ICT Investment and Economic Growth in the 1990s. Is the United States a Unique Case?

Colino, A., Benito-Osorio, D., & Armengot, C. R. (2014). How much does Innovation Matter for Economic Growth? Management Decision, 52(2), 313-325.

Crescenzi, R, & Rodriguez-Pose, A (2013) R&D, Socio-Economic Conditions, and Regional Innovation in the US Growth and Change, 44(2), 287-320

Czarnitzki, D. & Delanote, J. (2012). Young Innovative Companies. The new High-Growth Firms? Industrial and Corporate Change, dts039.

David, M., & Andrew, F. (2002) Scale, Technological Change and Human Capital Manufacturing and Development in Mexico. Centro de Investigation y Docencia.

Doms, M., Dunne, T., & Roberts, M. J. (1995). The Role of Technology use in the Survival and Growth of Manufacturing Plants. International journal of industrial organization, 13(4), 523-542.

Easterly, W, & Levine, R (2001) It's Not Factor Accumulation Stylized Facts and Growth Models. The World Bank Economic Review, 15(2), 177-219

Ertur C. & Koch, W (2011) A Contribution to the Theory and Empiries of Schumpeterian Growth with Worldwide Interactions Journal of Economic Growth, 16(3), 215-255

Fagerberg, J (2004) Innovation A Guide to the literature

Fernald, J. G., & Jones, C. I. (2014). The Future of US Economic Growth.

Funke, M. & Strulik, H. (2000). On Endogenous Growth with Physical Capital, Human Capital and Product Variety. European Economic Review, 44(3), 491-515.

Galor, O., & Moav, O. (2004). From Physical to Human Capital Accumulation. Inequality and the process of Development. The Review of Economic studies, 71(4), 1001-1026.

Gros, D, & Alcidi, C (2013) The Global Economy in 2030 Trends and Strategies for Europe CEPS (Paperbacks), European Union

Grossman, G. M., & Helpman, E. (1991). Quality Ladders in the Theory of Growth. The Review of Economic studies, 58(1), 43-61.

Grossman, G. M., & Helpman, E. (1993). Endogenous Innovation in the Theory of Growth. National Bureau of Economic Research.

Grossman, G M, & Helpman, E (1993) Innovation and Growth in the Global Economy MIT press

Grunfeld, L. A., Jakobsen, E. W., Kaloudis, A., Skogli, E., & Olsen, D. (2011). Key Innovation Indicators Learning from Principles and Practices Applied by Professional Industrial Players and Investors. Nordic Innovation Publication. Howitt, P. (1999). Steady Endogenous Growth with Population and R&D. Inputs. Growing Journal of Political Economy, 107(4), 715-730.

Howitt, P (2000) Endogenous Growth and Cross-Country Income Differences
American Economic Review, 829-846

Howitt, P (2004) Endogenous Growth, Productivity and Economic Policy A
Progress Report

Howitt, P (2007) Growth and Development A Schumpeterian Perspective

Howitt, P, & Aghion, P (1998) Capital Accumulation and Innovation as Complementary Factors in Long-Run Growth Journal of Economic Growth, 3, 111-130

Irmen, A (2005) Extensive and Intensive Growth in a Neoclassical Framework

Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control, 29(8), 1427-1448

Jones, C 1 (1995) R&D-Based Model of Economic Growth Journal of Political Economy, 103(4), 759-784

Jones, C 1 (1995) Time Series Test of Endogenous Growth Models The Quarterly Journal of Economics, 110(2), 495-525

Jones, C. I., & Williams, J. C. (1998). Measuring the Social Return to R&D.

Quarterly Journal of Economics, 1119-1135.

Jun, Z (2003) Investment, Investment Efficiency and Economic Growth in China Journal of Asian Economics, 14(5), 713-734

Kaldor, N (1961) Capital Accumulation and Economic Growth Macmillan Kuwahara, S (2013) Dynamical Analysis of the R&D-based Growth Model with a Regime Switch Journal of Economics, 108(1), 35-57

Laabas, B, & Weshah, R (2011) Economic Growth and the Quality of Human Capital

Le. 1 (2011) Do Government Policies Affect Growth? Examining a Model with R&D and Factor Accumulation Research in Economics, 65(1), 62-70

Levine, R, & Renelt, D (1992) A Sensitivity Analysis of Cross-Country Growth Regressions The American Economic Review, 82(4), 942-963

Li, D (2002) Is the AK Model Still Alive? The Long-Run Relation Between Growth and Investment Re-examined The Canadian Journal of Economics, 35(1), 92-114

Lloyd-Ellis, H. & Roberts, J (2002) Twin Engines of Growth Skills and Technology as Equal Partners in Balanced Growth Journal of Economic Growth, 7(2), 87-115

Madsen, J B (2002) The Causality between Investment and Economic Growth Economics Letters, 74(2), 157-163

Marrewijk, C. v. (1999). Capital Accumulation, Learning and Endogenous Growth.

Oxford Economic Papers, 51(3), 453-475.

Matsuyama, K (1999) Growing through Cycles Econmetrica, 335-347

Osipian, A (2007) Human Capital Economic Growth Nexus in the Former Soviet Bloc Available at SSRN 1124912

Osipian, A. L. (2007). Human Capital-Economic Growth Nexus in the Former Soviet Bloc.

Qin, D., Cagas, M. A., Quising, P., & He, X.-H. (2006). How much does Investment Drive Economic Growth in China? Journal of Policy Modeling, 28(7), 751-774.

Robert E Lucas, J. (1988). On the Mechanics of Economic Development. Journal of Monetary Economics, 22, 3-42.

Romer, P. M. (1986). Increasing Returns and Long-Run Growth. Journal of Political Economy, 94(5), 1002-1037.

Romer, P M (1990) Endogenous Technological Change Journal of Political Economy, 98(5), S71-S102

Romer, P. M. (1994). The Origins of Endogenous Growth. The journal of economic perspectives, 3-22.

Romero-Avila, D (2013) Is Physical Investment the Key to China's Growth Miracle? Economic Inquiry, 51(4), 1948-1971

Rosenberg, N (2004) Innovation and Economic Growth

Schiantarelli, F., Leblebicioglu, A., & Bond, S. (2004). Capital Accumulation and Growth. A New Look at the Empirical Evidence. Retrieved from

Shell, K (1966) Toward a Theory of Inventive Activity and Capital Accumulation
The American Economic Review, 62-68

Sochirca, E., Gil, P. M., & Afonso, O. (2014). Technology Structure and Skill Structure. Costly Investment and Complementarity Effects Quantification. Journal of Macroeconomics, 40, 172-189.

Tobin, J (1965) Money and Economic Growth Econmetrica, 33(4)

Wong, P. K., Ho, Y. P., & Autio, E. (2005). Entrepreneurship, Innovation and Economic Growth. Evidence from GEM Data. Small Business Economics, 24, 335-350.

Zeng, J (2003) Reexamining the Interaction between Innovation and Capital Accumulation Journal of Macroeconomics, 25(4), 541-560

Zeufack, D. A. G., Yoong, L. K., & Nadaraja, D. (2011). Knowledge, Innovation and Long-Run Growth

Zilibotti, F (1995) A Rostovian model of Endogenous Growth and Underdevelopment Traps European Economic Review, 39(8), 1569-1602

Appendix:

Table A1: Variable Definitions

Variable	Description	Source
	Dependent Variable	
Growth rate of real per	This variable is used as a measure of economic growth	World Development
capita GDP (EG)	following Beck et al (2004). It is calculated as the log	Indicators WDI (2013)
	difference of real per capita GDP	database
	Independent Variables	
Capital Stock Growth	It is used as a measure of physical capital	Penn World Tables,
(CAP)	accumulation	Version 8 0
Research and Development	Gross domestic expenditure on R&D as a percentage	United Nation
Expenditures Percentage of	of GDP. It is a standard expenditure measure which	Educational Scientific
GDP (RND)	covers all types of R&D activities carried out on	and Cultural
	national territory in a given year. It is used as a	Organization
	measure of innovation	(UNESCO)
Interaction Term of CAP		
and RND (CAP*RND)		
Total number of Patent	It is used as an output measure of Innovation. We take	World Intellectual
Applications Per Million of	resident and non-resident patent application and total	Property Organization
Population (PATENT)	population per million. First we add resident and non-	(WIPO)
	resident patent applications and then we divided by	
	total population per million. After doing this we have	
	total number of patent applications per million of	
	population	
Interaction 1erm of CAP	-	
and PATENT		
(CAP*PATENT)		
	Control Variables	
Initial Value of (log) Real		World Development
Per Capita GDP (Y0)		Indicators WDI (2013)
		database
Secondary School	Secondary school enrolment (% of gross)	United Nation
Enrolment (SCHOOL)		Educational Scientific

		and Cultural
		Organization
		(UNESCO)
Openness (OPEN)	Frade openness ratio of exports to GDP ratio	World Bank National
		Accounts Data and
		OLCD National
		Accounts Data Files
Government size (GOV)	Government consumption government share of real	World Bank National
	per capita GDP	Accounts Data and
		OLCD National
		Accounts Data Files
Inflation (INF)	Inflation annual percent change in CPI	International Monetary
		Fund and International
		Financial Statistic

Correlation Matrix

Table A2: Correlation Matrix of 76 Countries (Developed and Developing)

	EG	CAP	RND	PAT	CAP RND	CAP PAT	Ly0	SCH	OPEN	GOV	INF
EG	1										
CAP	-0 27	1								-	
RND	-0 23	041]								
PAT	-0 08	0 32	0 59	i			· · · · · ·				
CAPRND	-0 22	0 36	0 99	0 59	1						
CAPPAT	-0 17	0 59	0 65	0 94	0 63	1					
Ly0	-0 26	0.45	0 68	0 68	0 66	0 72	ı				
SCH	-0 03	0 26	0 52	0 67	0 5 1	0 63	0 68	1	-		_
OPEN	0 17	-0 33	0 10	0 20	0 11	0 06	0 15	0 16	1		
GOV	-0 19	0 14	0 65	0 35	0 65	0 35	0 52	0 52	0 08	I	
INF	0 11	-0 18	-0 36	- 0 35	-0 36	-0 36	-051	- 0 30	-0 18	-0 30	1

Table A3: Correlation Matrix of 57 Developed Countries

	EG	CAP	RND	PAT	CAP	CAP PAT	Ly0	SCH	OPEN	GOV	INF
EG	1										
CAP	-0 28	1								-	
RND	-0 26	0 30	1								
PAT	-0 04	0 19	0 56	1							
CAPRND	-0 24	0 26	0 99	0 57	l	 					
CAPPAT	-0 15	0.55	0 60	091	0 60	I					
LyO	-0 26	0 27	0 64	0.50	0 65	0 54	ı				
SCH	-0 04	0 14	0.61	0 39	0 62	0 39	0 67	l			
OPEN	021	-0 43	0 06	0 08	0 07	-0 09	011	-0 06	ı		
GOV	-0 17	0 0 1	0 57	0 20	0 57	0 18	0 45	0 57	-0 01	l	
INF	0 09	-0 09	-0 32	-0 29	-0 33	-0 29	-0 47	-0 30	-0 21	-0 27	l

Table A4: Correlation Matrix of 19 Developing Countries

	EG	CAP	RND	PAT	CAP RND	CAP PAT	Ly0	SCH	OPEN	GOV	INF
EG	l										
CAP	-0 12	L								-	
RND	0 09	0 28	1					<u> </u>			
PAT	0 07	0 10	0 16	1		 -					
CAPRND	0 11	0 10	0 97	0 16	1						
CAPPAI	0 03	0 35	0 24	0 96	0 19	1					
Ly0	-0 14	0 38	0.04	0 69	10 0-	0 74	1	,			
SCH	0 17	001	Ú 05	0 77	0 05	0 74	0 47	1			
OPEN	0.10	-0 28	-0 00	0.51	0 06	0 43	0 04	0.55	1		
GOV	-0 04	-0 03	0 65	018	0 70	0 19	0 01	0 27	0 34	1	
INF	-0 02	-0 07	0 06	-0 13	0 10	-0 13	-0 46	-0 05	0 25	0 05	1
	i	1	4	J	ı	I	ſ	ı	ı	L	L